

2024

Annual Security and Fire Safety Report

Reporting Period January 1 – December 31, 2023

Published September 27, 2024

We enhance lives and community vitality through quality education.

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
The Clery Act	
Clery Act Compliance	
Campus Safety	
Alcohol and Drugs	7
Emergency Notification System	
Emergency Response	10
Sexual Misconduct and Title IX	11
Missing Student Notification	26
Fire Safety in Student Housing	27
Smoke Free/Tobacco Free Campus	28
Statistics	
Chart 1: Crime Statistics	29
Chart 2: Arrests	30
Chart 3: Non-Arrest Campus Referrals	
Chart 4: Fire Statistics	30
Chart 5: Fire Safety Systems in Student Housing	31

Introduction

The safety of the campus community is of vital importance to Lake Region State College (LRSC). LRSC accepts its responsibility to employ safety measures and provide information on the prevention and reporting of crimes. Creating a safe and secure campus is a shared responsibility. The active involvement of the entire campus community – students, employees, visitors – in their own personal safety and the safety of their neighbors will help keep our campus safe and a desirable place to learn, work and live.

The 2024 Annual Security and Fire Safety Report is prepared annually in compliance with the Clery Act. Clery Act reporting covers the preceding calendar year, January 1 to December 31, 2023. It provides information related to campus security and safety including crime statistics, policies and procedures, and other information designed to inform students, employees and visitors about prevention of crimes and how to respond if a crime occurs. Included in this report are three years of reported crimes that occurred on campus, in certain off-campus buildings, or on property owned or controlled by LRSC, and on public property within, or immediately adjacent to and accessible from the campus.

The Clery Act

Jeanne Clery was a freshman at Lehigh University when she was raped and murdered in her residence hall on April 5, 1986. Her killer was a drug and alcohol abuser, a Lehigh student whom Jeanne had never met. He gained access to her room by proceeding, unopposed, through three propped-open doors, each of which should have been locked. He was convicted of the crime and sentenced to death.

The Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act (Clery Act) is a federal mandate requiring all institutions of higher education that participate in the federal student financial aid program to disclose campus crime statistics and security information. The Clery Act is intended to provide students and their families, as higher education consumers, with accurate, complete, and timely information about safety on campus so that they can make informed decisions.

Clery Act Compliance

The Clery Act requires LRSC to give timely warning of crimes that represent a threat of safety to students or employees and to make public its campus security policies and procedures. It also requires LRSC to publish and distribute an annual security report that provides crime statistics for the prior three years and campus crime prevention program descriptions.

When the Higher Education Opportunity Act was signed into law in 2008, it amended the Clery Act by adding several safety and security related requirements to the Higher Education Act of 1965. To be in full compliance with the law, LRSC must:

- 1. Collect, classify, and count crime reports and crime statistics.
- 2. Issue a timely warning for any Clery Act crime that represents an ongoing threat to the safety of students or employees.
- 3. Issue an emergency notification upon the confirmation of a significant emergency or dangerous situation involving an immediate threat to the health or safety of students of employees occurring on the campus.
- 4. Provide educational programs to promote the awareness of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking.
- 5. Have procedures for institutional disciplinary action in cases of dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking.
- 6. Publish an annual security report containing safety and security related policy statements and crime statistics and distribute it to all current students and employees.

- 7. Inform prospective students and employees about the availability of the annual campus security and fire safety report.
- 8. Submit crime and fire statistics to the Department of Education each fall.
- 9. Disclose missing student notification procedures that pertain to students residing in on-campus student housing facilities.
- 10. Disclose fire safety information related to on-campus student housing facilities. This includes maintaining a fire log that is open to public inspection; publishing an annual fire safety report containing policy statements and fire statistics associated with each on-campus student housing facility, including number of fires, cause, injuries, deaths, and property damage; and submitting fire statistics to the Department of Education each fall.

This annual report reflects the period of January 1 through December 31, 2023. Campus crime statistics include those reported to designated campus safety officials and local law enforcement agencies. All policy statements and procedures contained within this report apply to all on- and off-campus locations. Each year notification is sent to current students and employees. The notification provides information on how to access the report online. A hard copy may be obtained by contacting Jade Erickstad, Director of Academic Affairs, at 701-662-1553.

Campus Safety

Law Enforcement Agency

The Lake Region State College Police Department exists under authority granted by N.D.C.C. 15-10-17.1 and the State Board of Higher Education Policy 916. The licensed and sworn peace officers employed by LRSC have full powers of arrest pursuant to N.D.C.C 44-08-20.

The Lake Region Sate College campus falls under the jurisdiction of several law enforcement agencies willing and able to assume primary jurisdiction over the response to an investigation of criminal activity on campus. As such, officers of the Lake Region State College Police Department shall:

- 1. When on campus, proactively respond to a crime in progress that threatens the safety and/or security of campus-based persons or property.
- 2. At all times and for all cases relinquish investigative authority and jurisdiction to the city police, county sheriff, and/or highway patrol upon their arrival to campus.
- 3. Assist those law enforcement agencies as requested during any investigation or call for service.
- 4. Notify the appropriate law enforcement agency in any instance where the officer makes a criminal arrest or responds to a crime in progress or other emergency on campus.
- 5. Provide a written narrative (copied to the LRSC Chief of Police) to the appropriate law enforcement agency whenever they take official action as a peace officer, use force, recover evidence, or otherwise have information that needs to be included in an official police report.

The president shall issue a Notice of Appointment and administer the Oath of Office to one licensed peace officer to serve as the Chief of Police. The Chief of Police shall issue a Notice of Appointment and administer the Oath of Office to any other licensed peace officers employed by LRSC.

LRSC peace officers shall at all times maintain a current ND Peace Officer License and comply with all requirements for licensure and training established by the ND Peace Officer Standards and Training Board. Officers shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding the enforcement of laws, jurisdictional authority, and use of force.

The LRSC Chief of Police shall establish and maintain an up to date policy handbook that must include, at a minimum, the department's policy on the use of force, emergency vehicle operations, and weapons carry/qualification standards.

The Director of Peace Officer Training shall:

- 1. Oversee the licensing and training of the Peace Officer Training Program's employed training supervisors to ensure continued compliance with ND POST standards.
- 2. Serve on the Loss Control Committee.
- 3. Serve as the LRSC Police Department's primary liaison with other law enforcement agencies.
- 4. Provide assistance to the Director of Academic Affairs in preparing our Campus Safety and Security Report.
- 5. Coordinate, provide, and/or delegate the delivery of annual safety training to LRSC faculty, staff, and students.
- 6. Help manage the LRSC safety and security responsibilities under the Clery Act.
- 7. Serve as the primary Campus Safety Authority (CSA).

Campus Safety

Lake Region State College works closely with the Devils Lake Police Department (DLPD) when incidents arise that require joint investigative efforts, resources, crime related reports, and exchanges of information. There is a cooperative agreement between LRSC and DLPD stating that the DLPD will notify LRSC if it determines that LRSC student(s) have been involved in any alcohol or drug-related occurrence off campus.

Campus safety is managed by the Loss Control Committee. During the academic year, the Loss Control Committee with assistance from the Physical Plant Director, the Risk Management Coordinator, and the Director of Peace Officer Training. The Loss Control Committee meets routinely to discuss locks, alarms, lighting, communications, and other safety issues.

Campus Access

During business hours, the college (excluding residence halls) is open to students, employees, and visitors. During non-business hours, access to all College facilities is by key, if issued, or by admittance via the Residence Life staff. Residence halls are secured 24 hours a day.

Some facilities may have individual hours, which may vary at different times of the year. Examples are the Library, the Bookstore, and Student Services. In these cases, the facilities will be secured according to schedules developed by the department responsible for the facility.

Employees, when acting as advisor to a group of students, must not leave the building or room until all students using the facilities have left. Students must not be made responsible for locking up after an activity.

Safety Awareness Programs

Annually, students and employees are informed of services offered by Lake Region State College. Slide presentations and handouts outline ways to maintain personal safety. Students attend a campus safety presentation at each fall orientation. Information of ALICE (Alert, Lockdown, Inform, Counter, Evacuate) is also included in our freshman success courses and made available to staff and faculty. The annual safety report is made available to students and employees to inform them of safety related matters. Crime prevention programs and sexual assault prevention programs are available on a continual basis. A common theme of all awareness and crime prevention programs is to encourage students and employees to be aware of their responsibility for their own safety and the safety of others. Crime prevention programs on personal safety and theft prevention are sponsored by various campus organizations throughout the year. Policies related to student safety are included in the Student Handbook, which is made available to all students.

Timely Warnings

Lake Region State College will issue a timely warning notice in the event of a Clery Act crime that occurred on or near campus that may pose a serious or ongoing threat to members of the campus community. The warning will

be issued through the college emergency notification system to all employees and currently enrolled students. A timely warning notice will be issued when there is a threat to the safety and security of persons for the following Clery Act crimes:

- Aggravated assault
- Arson
- Burglary (involving violence)
- Domestic violence, dating violence, stalking
- Manslaughter
- Motor vehicle theft
- Murder
- Robbery
- Sexual offenses
- Any other crime in which the victim was chosen on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information, sex, age, creed, marital status, veteran's status, political belief or affiliation, or disability.

Decisions concerning whether to issue a timely warning will be made on a case-by-case basis using the following criteria: (1) nature of the crime; (2) continuing danger to the campus community; (3) possible risk of compromising law enforcement efforts.

The president is responsible for deciding if a timely warning notice will be issued and the LRSC Chief of Police or designee will develop and issue the notice. In the president's absence the responsibility will go to: (1) Vice President of Academic and Student Affairs; (2) Vice President of Administrative Services; (3) Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs.

If the threat is sudden and serious, a warning will be issued immediately and will be continually updated until the threat is contained or neutralized. If a threat is less immediate, the warning will be fully developed and distributed after that point in time. In some cases, information may be kept confidential to avoid compromising an ongoing investigation. LRSC is not required to issue a timely warning with respect to crimes reported to a pastoral or professional counselor.

Reporting Criminal Offenses

Students, employees, and visitors are encouraged to report all crimes and any suspicious activity in an accurate and timely manner to an identified campus safety authority (CSA) *and* local law enforcement. LRSC encourages accurate and prompt reporting of all crimes to the campus police and the appropriate police agencies, when the victim of a crime elects to, or is unable to, make such a report. For emergencies call 9-1-1. The Primary CSA is the Director of Peace Officer Training (701-662-1526). Additional CSAs include but are not limited to:

- Faculty assigned to the Peace Officer Training Program
- Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs (701-662-1608)
- Director of Academic Affairs (701-662-1553)
- Risk Management Coordinator (701-662-1543)
- Athletic Director (701-662-1523)
- Title IX Coordinators (701-662-1543 or 701-662-1509)
- Vice President of Academic and Student Affairs (701-662-1681)
- Vice President of Administrative Affairs (701-662-1502)
- Physical Plant Director (701-662-1521)
- Director of Housing (701-662-1525)
- Counselor (701-662-1546)

Individuals filing a report may request confidentiality. LRSC will evaluate the request and determine the extent to which confidentiality may be maintained. LRSC must weigh the request for confidentiality against its desire to protect the safety and security of the entire campus. Therefore, with the exception of the counselor, LRSC cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality. All crimes reported, other than those reported to the counselor, are included in the annual disclosure of crime statistics.

Disclosure of Crime Statistics

The Director of Academic Affairs prepares the Annual Campus Security and Fire Safety Report to comply with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Crime Statistics Act. The full text of this report can be located on the college website at www.lrsc.edu. This report is prepared in cooperation with the local law enforcement agencies surrounding on campus and non-campus sites, the Director of Peace Officer Training, the Title IX Coordinator, Director of Housing, and Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs. Each entity provides updated information on their educational efforts and programs to comply with the Act.

Campus crime, arrest, and referral statistics include those reported to designated campus security authorities (CSA) and local law enforcement agencies. Each year an email notification is made to all current students and employees. Copies of the report may also be obtained by calling 701-662-1553.

Lake Region State College employs one counselor who, when acting as such, is not required to report crimes for inclusion into the annual disclosure of crime statistics. As a matter of policy, they are encouraged, if and when they deem it appropriate, to inform persons being counseled of the procedures to report crimes on a voluntary basis for inclusion into the annual crime statistics.

Disclosure to Victims of Alleged Crimes

Lake Region State College will, upon written request, disclose to the alleged victim of a crime of violence, or a non-forcible sex offense, the results of any investigation conducted by the college against the student who is the alleged perpetrator of the crime or offense. If the alleged victim is deceased as a result of the crime or offense, LRSC will provide the results of the disciplinary hearing to the victim's next of kin, if so requested.

Registered Sex Offenders

The Campus Sex Crimes Preventions Act (CSCPA) of 2000 is a federal law that provides for the tracking of convicted, registered sex offenders enrolled at, or employed by, institutions of higher education. The act requires sex offenders already required to register in a state to provide notice of each institution of higher education in the state at which the person is employed, carries a vocation, or is a student. Out-of-state sex offenders are required to register if they work or attend school in North Dakota. The state then provides this information to law enforcement authorities in the jurisdiction where the institution is located.

The law requires LRSC to advise the campus community where law enforcement agency information provided by a State concerning registered sex offenders may be obtained. The North Dakota Sex Offender Registry is available via Internet pursuant to North Dakota Century Code section 12.1-32-15 at https://sexoffender.nd.gov/Laws.

Alcohol and Drugs

Lake Region State College students and employees are required to abide by all federal, state, and local laws. Except as authorized by SBHE Policy 918 and/or NDUS Procedure 918, the consumption, use, possession, distribution, or sale of alcoholic beverages or illicit drugs while on property under the control of LRSC or at an LRSC sponsored activity is prohibited. Students, employees, and visitors shall not be on campus or at an LRSC sponsored activity while visibly impaired by the use of alcohol and/or drugs.

LRSC requires employees to maintain a safe and sober workplace. As such, employees shall not consume alcoholic beverages or drugs (including prescription drugs that can cause impairment) during scheduled work

hours or within close proximity to scheduled work hours. Employees on call back, outside of regular hours, shall disclose to their supervisor if they have consumed alcoholic beverages to ensure that only appropriate duties are assigned or the need for the employee is reassigned to another. Employees taking prescription medication that can cause impairment must notify their supervisor, in advance of performing work, to ensure only appropriate duties are assigned, duties are reassigned as necessary, and/or sick leave is taken.

A supervisor may, after consultation with the Human Resources Director, require an employee suspected of violating this policy to submit to a breath, blood, or urine test. The test is not required should the employee admit to the consumption and/or impairment. If the employee refuses testing the employee may be disciplined as if the test had been positive. In the event of a positive test and/or admission, the employee shall be required to take annual leave for the remainder of the workday. The supervisor and/or the employee must arrange for safe transportation home.

Violations of this policy constitutes misconduct and disciplinary action may be imposed according to Student Conduct Policy 800.30 and the Code of Conduct Policy 1500.05.

The policy addressing alcohol and drugs in the residence halls can be found in the Residence Life/Housing Policy 800.08.

Medical Amnesty Laws: LRSC respects and abides by the medical amnesty laws for drug and alcohol related emergencies under North Dakota Century Codes 05-01-08 (6) and 19-03.01.

Parental Notification: In accordance with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA), the Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs reserves the right to notify the parents/guardians of students under 21 years of age, and the parents/guardians of dependent students, regardless of age, of any incident in which the student is found responsible for violating this policy.

The college has programming, coordinated by the Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs, to prevent drug and alcohol abuse by students. The Director of Human Resources shall make similar information available to all employees. These programs shall-include dissemination of-informational materials, counseling services, educational programs, referrals, and code of conduct violations.

Emergency Notification System

Lake Region State College uses an Emergency Notification System (ENS). This system allows the campus to contact students, employees, and on-campus entities during an emergency. The emergency notification system will require emergency notification information from students, employees, and on-campus entities. This information is how the campus can contact the employee, student, or designated person. LRSC employee participation in the emergency notification system is mandatory and all employees, including student employees, are required to provide emergency contact information.

The responsibility to make the decision to close Lake Region State College due to weather/emergency rests with the college president. Lake Region State College administrative staff at the Grand Forks Air Force Base has the authorization to make the appropriate call for LRSC classes at the GFAFB Education Center. The president may coordinate with designated personnel before making the decision to close campus, cancel classes, delay start time, etc.

In the President's absence the responsibility will go to the:

- 1. Vice President for Academic and Student Affairs
- 2. Vice President for Administrative Services
- 3. Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs

Employee emergency notification telephone numbers or other emergency notification information is exempt from the state's open records laws as provided in North Dakota University System Policy 1912 and may be released only as provided in that policy.

Emergency notification contact information will come from ConnectND and is updated monthly. This removes former employees and students from the system.

To eliminate misuse of the emergency notification system, only designated personnel will have access to deploy the system. An "emergency" means a situation that poses an immediate threat to the health or safety of someone in the institution or system community or significantly disrupts institution or system programs and activities.

The emergency notification system is only for emergencies as defined in NDUS Policy 1902. Lake Region State College's Loss Control Committee defines certain emergencies that warrant system use. According to NDUS system requirements, LRSC will conduct unannounced emergency notification tests at least once each fall, spring, and summer semester. A log is maintained of all notifications describing the exercise, date, start and end time.

Employees are required to review their emergency notification information annually. In addition, employees will receive reminders bi-annually to update their records. Emergency notification information may include campus email, campus phone, home phone, home cellular phone, and work cellular phone. Employees can opt-in for SMS "texting" capabilities. LRSC's Human Resources will gather emergency information from non-campus personnel such as the childcare center, Devils Lake Police Department, and the Devils Lake Fire Department, and other campuses based at LRSC.

Additional emergency notifications not outlined by the Loss Control Committee can be deployed, if necessary, by designated personnel (if situation fits NDUS Policy 1902). Campus emergency procedures will be available for employees on the shared information drive. LRSC will use campus email and website for detailed updates, unless the situation requires redeployment.

During an emergency, LRSC employees and students are asked to refer all media inquiries to LRSC's Director of College Relations or President's Office.

Students, employees, and visitors should report all emergency situations to the LRSC Risk Management Office or Physical Plant Director.

Students will have the ability to add and update their information in Campus Connection. The portal will allow students to enter campus phone, cellular phone, email, texting information, and home phone. The system will periodically remind students to review their information. In addition, students can receive emergency notifications from other campuses depending on their class location. Students can "opt-out" of the emergency notification system in Campus Connection.

Students are allowed to leave cell phones on during class to receive emergency notifications unless instructed by faculty. If a faculty member instructs students to turn their cell phones off, the faculty member must be able to receive emergency notifications through a registered cell phone, or other means of receiving emergency messages at all times students are required to turn off their phones.

Students' emergency notification information or contact information such as phone numbers or email addresses submitted for purposes of participation in an emergency notification system, shall be excluded from directory information that is therefore confidential as provided under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). However, if a student phone number or email or other address submitted for the purpose of participation in an emergency notification system is also contained in other institution records used for other purposes, that information contained in the other institution records is directory information and not

confidential, unless a student has exercised the student's right to refuse to permit disclosure of directory information.

Emergency Response

The Vice President for Administrative Affairs or designee, as delegated by the president, is responsible for directing emergency management operations. The designee identifies other departments, units, and individuals responsible for providing emergency response and critical support services and describes their respective roles and responsibilities. The president or designee assesses the danger and potential threat the event may pose to the safety of the campus community. If a significant emergency or dangerous situation is confirmed, the designee shall take into account the safety of the campus community, determine what information to release about the situation, and begin the notification process. In the event that a notification may compromise efforts to assist a victim, contain the emergency, respond to the emergency, to otherwise mitigate the emergency, a notification may not be issued. The Loss Control Committee shall create and maintain an emergency response plan.

LRSC has a variety of ways of disseminating emergency information to the larger community, including, but not limited to:

- Public Media
 - Local radio and television stations are notified of any disasters or emergencies occurring on the campus.
 - The Director of College Relations coordinates connections with all major media outlets to provide emergency notifications.
- Mass Calling and Notification
 - The emergency notification system allows designated personnel to send a recorded voice message, e-mail, and text message simultaneously from a remote site. This message will be sent to the entire campus community and will contain important information about the emergency. When the system is activated, one or more of the following alerts are sent depending on the contact information the recipient has provided.
 - Voice Call Individuals who have provided their phone numbers are called and a prerecorded voice message is played.
 - Email An email is sent to all individuals who have provided email addresses.
 - Text message Individuals who have provided cell phone numbers are sent a text message.
- Warning Sirens
 - Warning sirens are strategically placed in and around the City of Devils Lake to sound in the event of a tornado warning. The sirens are tested on this system every Wednesday at 6:00pm.
- Building Evacuation Alarms
 - Every campus building has an evacuation alarm. Buildings may also be equipped with a voice public address system by which instructions may be given.
- LRSC Website
 - The Director of College Relations will update the LRSC website with pertinent information and instructions in the event of a disaster or emergency.
- Email Transmission
 - A mass email may be sent to the campus community with pertinent information and instructions in the event of a disaster or emergency.

The following is a list of individuals or organizations responsible for carrying out these procedures:

- President
- Vice President of Administrative Affairs
- Vice President of Academic & Student Affairs
- Director of College Relations
- Loss Control Committee

LRSC will publish a summary of its emergency response procedures in conjunction with at least one emergency notification test each calendar year.

Sexual Misconduct and Title IX

LRSC Policy 1500.09

1) It shall be the policy of the State Board of Higher Education, the North Dakota University System, and Lake Region State College to fully comply with all aspects of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 and the regulations promulgated under its authority. This policy shall not govern compliance with any other anti-discrimination or anti-harassment statute, rule, or regulation. Failure by an employee of the SBHE, NDUS, or Lake Region State College to comply with the requirements of Title IX or this policy may constitute a violation of Policy 308.1 – Code of Conduct or LRSC Policy 1500.05 – Code of Conduct. Nothing in this Policy should be read to require fewer due process safeguards than would otherwise be provided by SBHE Policy 514.

Lake Region State College prohibits all crimes of sexual misconduct as defined in this policy. For the purposes of complying with the requirements of this policy, any incident meeting these definitions are considered a crime for the purpose of Clery Act reporting.

- 2) **Definitions**. For the purpose of this policy, the listed terms shall have the following definitions:
 - a. Actual Knowledge. Notice of sexual harassment or allegations of sexual harassment to Lake Region State College's Title IX Coordinator or any Lake Region State College official with authority to institute corrective measures on the Lake Region State College's behalf.
 - b. *Advisor*. A person chosen by a party or appointed by Lake Region State College to accompany the party to meetings related to the resolution process, to advise the party on that process, and to conduct cross-examination for the party at the hearing, if any.
 - c. *Complainant*. An individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct which could, after investigation, constitute sexual harassment.
 - d. *Consent*. Words or actions showing a clear, knowing and voluntary agreement to engage in sexual activity.
 - i. Consent from sexual partners must be obtained. If confusion or ambiguity on the issue of consent arises anytime during sexual activity, consent must be clarified.
 - ii. Consent may not be inferred from:
 - 1. Silence, passivity or lack of active resistance.
 - 2. A current or previous dating or sexual relationship.
 - iii. Consent to one form of sexual activity does not imply consent to other forms of sexual activity.
 - iv. Consent can be withdrawn by clear communication at any time.

- e. *Dating Violence*. Includes but is not limited to, sexual or physical abuse or the threat of such abuse. Dating violence does not include acts covered under the definition of domestic violence. Dating violence is violence committed by the respondent:
 - i. Who is or has been in a romantic or intimate relationship with the complainant; and
 - ii. Where the existence of such a relationship shall be determined by considering the length of the relationship, the type of relationship, and the frequency of interactions between the complainant and respondent.
- f. Day. A business day when Lake Region State College is in normal operation.
- g. *Deliberate Indifference*. When Lake Region State College's response to sexual harassment is clearly unreasonable in light of the information known to Lake Region State College at the time.
- h. Domestic Violence. Violence committed by the respondent, who is:
 - i. a current or former spouse or intimate partner of the complainant,
 - ii. a person with whom the complainant shares a child in common,
 - iii. cohabiting with or has cohabited with the victim as a spouse or intimate partner,
 - iv. similarly situated to a spouse of the complainant under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction in which the crime of violence occurred,
 - v. by any other person against an adult or youth victim who is protected from that person's acts under the domestic or family violence laws of the jurisdiction in which the crime of violence occurred, or
 - vi. any person against whose acts the complainant is protected by N.D.C.C. ch. 14-07.1.
- i. Education program or activity. Includes locations, events, or circumstances where Lake Region State College exercises substantial control over both the respondent and the context in which the sexual harassment occurs, as well as in any building owned or controlled by a student organization that is officially recognized by Lake Region State College.
- j. Fondling. The touching of the private body parts of another person for the purpose of sexual gratification, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent because of his/her age or because of his/her temporary or permanent mental incapacity.
- k. Formal Complaint. A document filed by a complainant (which either contains the complainant's signature or indicates that the complainant is the one filing the complaint) or signed by the Title IX Coordinator alleging sexual harassment against a respondent and requesting that Lake Region State College investigate.
- I. *Incest*. Sexual intercourse between persons who are related to each other within the degrees wherein marriage is prohibited by law.
- m. *Rape*. Penetration, no matter how slight, of the vagina or anus of the complainant with any body part or object by the respondent, or oral penetration of the complainant by a sex organ of the respondent, without the consent of the complainant.
- n. *Respondent*. An individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment.
- o. *Sexual Assault*. Either rape, fondling, incest, statutory rape, or any of the sexual offenses listed in N.D.C.C. ch. 12.1-20 or by the FBI's Uniform Crime Reporting system.
- p. Sexual Harassment. Conduct, on the basis of sex, constituting one (or more) of the following:
 - An employee of Lake Region State College conditioning the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of Lake Region State College on an individual's participation in unwelcome sexual conduct.

- Unwelcome conduct determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to Lake Region State College's education program or activity; or
- iii. Sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence, or stalking, as defined in this section.
- q. Sexual Offense. Any sexual act directed against another person, without the consent of the victim, including instances where the victim is incapable of giving consent.
- r. *Stalking*. Engaging in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person to (a) fear for his or her safety or the safety of others; or (b) suffer substantial emotional distress.
 - i. Course of conduct means two or more acts, including, but not limited to, acts which the stalker directly, indirectly, or through third parties, by any action, method, device, or means follows, monitors, observes, surveils, threatens, or communicates to or about, a person, or interferes with a person's property.
 - ii. Reasonable person means a reasonable person under similar circumstances and with similar identities to the victim.
 - iii. Substantial emotional distress means significant mental suffering or anguish that may, but does not necessarily, require medical or other professional treatment or counseling.
- s. *Statutory Rape*. Sexual intercourse with a person who is under the statutory age of consent. In North Dakota the statutory age of consent is eighteen (18).
- t. Supportive Measures. Non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services offered as appropriate (as reasonably available) and without fee or charge to the complainant or respondent.
- 3) **Title IX Coordinator**. An official designated by Lake Region State College to ensure compliance with Title IX and the Title IX program. References to the Coordinator throughout this policy may also encompass a designee of the Coordinator for specific tasks.
 - a. Title IX Coordinator, Sandi Lillehaugen Main Campus, Office 120; 701-662-1543; Sandra.Lillehaugen@Irsc.edu
 - Title IX Deputy Coordinator, Brandi Nelson Main Campus, Office 119; 701-662-1509;
 Brandi.Nelson@Irsc.edu

The Title IX Coordinator acts with independence and authority free from bias and conflicts of interest. The Title IX Coordinator oversees all resolutions under this policy and these procedures. The members of the Title IX Team are vetted and trained to ensure they are not biased for or against any party in a specific case, or for or against complainants and/or respondents, generally.

To raise any concern involving bias, conflict of interest or discrimination by the Title IX Coordinator, contact the Lake Region State College Vice President of Academic and Student Affairs, Lloyd Halvorson, 701-662-1681; Lloyd.Halvorson@Irsc.edu. Concerns of bias or a potential conflict of interest by any other Title IX Team member should be raised with the Title IX Coordinator.

4) **Mandated Reporters**. All Lake Region State College employees (faculty, staff, administrators) are required to report actual or suspected discrimination or harassment related to Title IX to appropriate officials immediately.

The following describe the reporting options at Lake Region State College for a complainant or third-party (including parents/guardians when appropriate):

- a. **Confidential Resources.** If a complainant would like the details of an incident to be kept confidential, the complainant may speak with:
 - i. LRSC professional counselors and intern
 - ii. Off-campus (non-employees):
 - Licensed professional counselors and other medical providers
 - Local rape crisis counselors
 - Domestic violence resources
 - Local or state assistance agencies
 - Clergy/Chaplains
 - Attorneys

All of the above-listed individuals will maintain confidentiality when acting under the scope of their licensure, professional ethics, and/or professional credentials, except in extreme cases of immediacy of threat or danger or abuse of a minor/elder/individual with a disability, or when required to disclose by law or court order.

Lake Region State College employees who must maintain confidentiality are still required to submit anonymous statistical information for Clery Act purposes unless they believe it would be harmful to their client or patient.

- 5) **Title IX Policy**. Lake Region State College will notify applicants for admission and employment, students, and employees of its Title IX Policy.
 - a. This notification states:
 - i. Lake Region State College does not discriminate on the basis of sex in its education program or activity.
 - ii. Title IX and 34 C.F.R. 106 require Lake Region State College not to discriminate on the basis of sex.
 - iii. This requirement to not discriminate extends to admission and employment.
 - iv. All inquiries about the application of Title IX and 34 C.F.R. 106 to Lake Region State College should be referred to the Title IX Coordinator, the Department of Education's Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights, or both.
 - b. This policy will be displayed on the LRSC website and in the Student Handbook.
- 6) Grievance Procedures. Lake Region State College has adopted and published grievance procedures that provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of student and employee complaints alleging sexual harassment or sex discrimination, and a grievance process that complies with this policy. These grievance procedures shall only apply to sex discrimination and sexual harassment occurring within the United States.
 - a. Lake Region State College shall notify applicants for admission and employment, students, and employees of the Lake Region State College's grievance procedures and grievance process, including, but not limited to, how to report or file a complaint of sex discrimination, how to report or file a formal complaint of sexual harassment, and how Lake Region State College will respond.

- 7) **Method of Reporting.** Any person may report violation of this policy. Such report may be made in person, by mail, by telephone, or by email, using the Title IX Coordinator's contact information or any other means which results in the Title IX Coordinator receiving the report, regardless of the time of day. Reporters have the option to notify law enforcement authorities, to be assisted by campus authorities in notifying law enforcement authorities.
- 8) **Preservation of Evidence.** Individuals are strongly encouraged to take immediate steps to preserve all evidence that might support a future report or an investigation by the police, by LRSC, or both. Such evidence may include:
 - a. forensic sexual assault examination,
 - b. clothing, sheets or other materials (items containing bodily fluids should be stored in cardboard boxes or paper bags),
 - c. electronic exchanges (e.g., text messages, emails, and Facebook, Instagram, Snapchat or other social media posts, to the extent that they can be captured or preserved),
 - d. photographs (including photographs stored on smartphones and other devices),
 - e. voice-mail messages and other physical, documentary and/or electronic data that might be helpful or relevant in an investigation, and/or
 - f. electronic and photographic evidence that may be lost through the upgrade or replacement of equipment (including smartphones), software and/or accounts or may simply be lost to the passage of time.
- 9) Equitable Treatment. At all times, Lake Region State College will treat complainants and respondents equitably by following a grievance process which complies with this policy before the imposition of disciplinary sanctions, and by providing remedies to a complainant if a respondent is found to be responsible for sexual harassment.
- 10) Rights and Options. Individuals have the right to:
 - a. make a report to local law enforcement,
 - b. have disclosures of sexual misconduct, including dating violence, domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, treated seriously,
 - c. decide whether or not to disclose a crime or violation and participate in the judicial or conduct process and/or criminal justice process free from pressure by LRSC,
 - d. participate in a process that is fair, impartial, and provides adequate notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard,
 - e. be treated with dignity and to receive courteous, fair, and respectful health care and counseling services,
 - f. be free from any suggestion that a complainant is at fault when these crimes and violations are committed, or should have acted in a different manner to avoid such crimes or violations,
 - g. not be required to unnecessarily repeat a description of the incident,
 - h. be protected from retaliation,
 - i. have access to at least one level of appeal of a determination,
 - j. be accompanied by an adviser of choice who may assist and advise a complainant or respondent throughout the judicial or conduct process including during all meetings and hearings related to such process, and
 - k. exercise civil rights and practice of religion without interference by the investigative, criminal justice, or judicial or conduct process, and
 - I. receive written notification of this policy.

11) Pre-Grievance Process.

- a. **Timing.** This grievance process shall be carried out using reasonably prompt time frames, including time frames for filing and resolving appeals, and for informal resolution processes if offered. Notwithstanding, temporary delays or extensions of the time frames must be offered for good cause, with written notice to the parties setting forth the cause for the action.
 - i. Good cause. May include considerations such as the absence of a party, a party's advisor, or a witness; concurrent law enforcement activity; or the need for accommodations for language or disability.
- b. **Actual Knowledge of Sexual Harassment.** With or without the filing of a formal complaint, once Lake Region State College has actual knowledge of sexual harassment within its educational program or activity in the United States, Lake Region State College must respond promptly and without deliberate indifference pursuant to this policy and any applicable policies.
 - i. Once Lake Region State College has actual knowledge of sexual harassment, the Title IX Coordinator or designee must contact the complainant and:
 - a. Discuss the availability of supportive measures.
 - b. Consider the complainant's wishes regarding supportive measures.
 - c. Inform the complainant that supportive measures are available with or without the filing of a formal complaint; and
 - d. Explain the process of filing a formal complaint.
 - ii. No disciplinary sanctions or other actions which are not supportive measures may be imposed against a respondent prior to the conclusion of the grievance process.
- c. Supportive Measures. Lake Region State College may offer the complainant supportive measures designed to restore or preserve equal access to the education program or activity without unreasonably burdening the respondent, including measures designed to protect the health and safety of both parties or the educational environment, or to deter further sexual harassment.
 - i. Examples of Permissible Supportive Measures. Lake Region State College must tailor any supportive measures to the parties' situations. Some possible supportive measures include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Counseling;
 - b. Extensions of deadlines or other course-related adjustments;
 - c. Modifications of work or class schedules;
 - d. Campus escort services;
 - e. Mutual restrictions on contact between the parties;
 - f. Changes in work or housing locations;
 - g. Leaves of absence; and
 - h. Increased security or monitoring of certain areas of campus.
 - ii. Lake Region State College must maintain confidentiality with respect to supportive measures unless disclosure is required to implement the supportive measures.
 - iii. The Title IX Coordinator shall coordinate the effective implementation of supportive measures.
 - iv. Supportive measures may not restrict any party's rights under the United States Constitution.
- d. **Emergency Removal**. Lake Region State College may remove a respondent from the education program or activity on an emergency basis, provided that the Lake Region State College determines, based on an individualized safety and risk analysis, that an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of any student or other individual arising from the allegations of sexual

harassment justifies removal.

- i. Lake Region State College must provide the respondent with notice and an opportunity to challenge the decision immediately following the removal.
- e. **Administrative Leave**. Lake Region State College may place a non-student employee respondent on administrative leave during the pendency of a grievance process.

12) Grievance Process.

a. Formal Complaint and Notice of Allegations.

- i. Once a formal complaint is received by Lake Region State College, they must provide the following written notice to the known parties:
 - a. Notice of the grievance process, including any informal resolution process.
 - b. Notice of the allegations of sexual harassment, including:
 - Sufficient details known at the time and with sufficient time to prepare a response, including, but not limited to, the names of the parties, the conduct allegedly constitution sexual harassment, and the date and location of the alleged conduct.
 - c. A statement that the respondent is presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct and that a determination regarding responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process.
 - d. A statement that the parties may have an advisor of their choice, who may be an attorney, and may inspect and review evidence. The statement should also indicate that if the party does not have an advisor of choice, Lake Region State College will appoint an advisor to assist with cross-examination for the live hearing.
 - e. Notice of any provisions in Lake Region State College's code of conduct that prohibits knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false information during the grievance process.
- ii. If during the course of the grievance process, additional allegations are added to the investigation which were not included in the initial notice, Lake Region State College must provide notice of the additional allegations to the parties.

b. Advisors.

- Parties to a grievance proceeding must be afforded the opportunity to select the advisor of their choice to assist them during the proceeding, including during the live hearing.
- ii. If a party does not choose an advisor, Lake Region State College shall provide the party with an advisor. At minimum, Lake Region State College shall provide an advisor to conduct the party's cross-examination at the hearing. However, nothing in this policy or the Title IX regulations should be read to prohibit Lake Region State College to provide an advisor for the full duration of the grievance process, provided that the parties are treated equally as to timing insofar as Lake Region State College appoints advisors for both parties.
- iii. Lake Region State College is not required to provide attorneys to parties to act as advisors, but appointed advisors should be provided with access to appropriate training to ensure an understanding of the grievance process, though the same training provided to Title IX Coordinators, decision-makers, and investigators is not required.

- iv. Lake Region State College is not required to attempt to create equality of advisors between the parties, particularly where one party selects an outside advisor, but should endeavor to seek parity of advisors where Lake Region State College provides advisors to both parties.
- c. **Member Roles**. Lake Region State College has trained Title IX members to serve in the following roles, at the direction of the Title IX Coordinator:
 - i. To provide appropriate intake of and initial guidance pertaining to complaints
 - ii. To act as an advisor to the parties
 - iii. To investigate complaints
 - iv. To serve as a hearing facilitator
 - v. To serve as a decision-maker regarding the complaint
 - vi. To serve on an appeal panel

d. Investigation.

- i. Lake Region State College is required to investigate every filed formal complaint unless the complaint is subject to dismissal, below.
- ii. At all times, the burden of proof and the burden of gathering evidence sufficient to make a determination regarding responsibility rests on Lake Region State College, and they may not seek to shift that burden to the parties.
 - a. Notwithstanding, Lake Region State College may not restrict the parties' ability to discuss the allegations or to gather or present relevant evidence.
- iii. At all times, Lake Region State College shall observe a presumption that respondent is not responsible for the alleged conduct until and unless there is a determination of responsibility at the conclusion of the grievance process.
- iv. Lake Region State College may not access, consider, disclose, or otherwise use a party's medical records made or maintained in connection with the provision of treatment to the party, unless voluntary, written consent to do so is provided by the party (or the party's parent, if the party is not eligible to provide consent).
- v. Lake Region State College may not require, allow, rely upon, or otherwise use evidence that constitutes, or questions that seek disclosure of, information protected under a legally recognized privilege, unless that privilege is waived.
- vi. Lake Region State College must provide to the parties written notice of the date, time, location, participation, and purpose of all hearings, investigative interviews, or other meetings, with sufficient time for the party to prepare.
- vii. The parties must be afforded an equal opportunity to have others present during any grievance proceeding, including their advisor, though Lake Region State College may establish restrictions regarding the extent to which the advisor may participate in the proceedings, so long as the restrictions apply equally to both parties and comply with this policy.
- viii. Both parties must have an equal opportunity to inspect and review any evidence obtained as part of the investigation related to the allegations raised in a formal complaint, including any evidence upon which Lake Region State College does not intend to rely in reaching a determination of responsibility and any inculpatory or exculpatory evidence, from whatever source.
- ix. At least 10 days prior to the preparation of the investigative report, Lake Region State College must provide each party and the party's advisor the evidence obtained in the investigation in an electronic format or hard copy. The parties may submit a written response to the evidence, which the investigator shall consider prior to completion of the investigative report.

x. At the conclusion of the investigation, the investigator must create an investigative report that fairly summarizes the relevant evidence. At least 10 days prior to the hearing, the investigator must send a copy of the investigative report to each party and the party's advisor, if any, for review and written response.

e. Dismissal.

i. Mandatory Dismissal.

- a. Lake Region State College must dismiss the formal complaint if, at any time during the investigation or hearing:
 - ii. The conduct alleged would not constitute sexual harassment as defined in this policy even if proved;
 - iii. The conduct alleged did not occur in the education program or activity; or;
 - iv. The conduct alleged did not occur against a person in the United States.

ii. Permissive Dismissal.

- a. Lake Region State College may dismiss the formal complaint if, at any time during the investigation or hearing:
 - A complainant notifies the Title IX Coordinator, in writing, that the complainant would like to the withdraw the formal complaint or any allegations contained in the formal complaint;
 - ii. The respondent is no longer enrolled or employed by Lake Region State College; or
 - iii. Specific circumstances prevent Lake Region State College from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination as to the formal complaint or allegations in the formal complaint.
- b. In the event that a formal complaint is permissively dismissed, Lake Region State College should consult with its legal counsel prior to taking action under another provision of its code of conduct to avoid taking actions constituting retaliation.
- iii. **Notice of Dismissal.** Upon a dismissal pursuant to this section, Lake Region State College must promptly send written notice of the dismissal and reasons therefore to both parties simultaneously.
- f. **Consolidation of Formal Complaints.** Lake Region State College may consolidate formal complaints against more than one respondent, by more than one complainant against one or more respondents, or by one party against the other party, where the allegations of sexual harassment arise out of the same facts or circumstances.

g. Live Hearing.

- The grievance process must provide for a live hearing after the completion of the investigative report. All evidence obtained by the investigator as part of the investigative process must be made available to the parties and the decision-maker at the live hearing.
- ii. The live hearing will be presided over by the decision-maker, who will not be the investigator or the Title IX Coordinator.
 - a. The decision-maker may be one individual or more than one individual as set by Lake Region State College.
- iii. At the request of either party, the hearing must be conducted with the parties located in separate rooms with technology enabling the decision-maker and parties to

- simultaneously see and hear the party or witness answering questions. Hearings may be conducted with all parties physically present in the same geographic location, or, any parties, witnesses, and other participants may appear at the live hearing virtually, so long as the participants are able to simultaneously see and hear each other.
- iv. At the live hearing, the decision-maker must permit each party's advisor to ask the other party and any witnesses all relevant questions and follow-up questions, including those questioning credibility. This cross-examination must be conducted directly (the questions may not be asked by the decision-maker), orally, and in real time by the party's advisor and never by a party personally.
 - a. Prior to a party or witness answering a question, the decision-maker must rule on the relevance of the question and explain any decision to exclude a question as not relevant.
 - b. Decision-makers may request, but may not require, that questions by the parties be submitted in advance, to permit the decision-maker to rule on the relevance of questions.
 - c. Lake Region State College may limit the extent to which the party's advisor may participate in the hearing by Lake Region State College.
- v. Rape Shield. Questions and evidence about the complainant's sexual predisposition or sexual history are not relevant, unless such questions are offered to prove that someone other than the respondent committed the alleged conduct, or regard specific incidents of the prior sexual behavior with respect to the respondent, and are offered to prove consent.
- vi. Cross-Examination. If a party or witness does not submit to cross-examination at the live hearing, the decision-maker must not rely on any statement of that party or witness in reaching a determination regarding responsibility. Decision-makers may not draw an inference about the determination regarding responsibility based solely on a party's or witness's absence or refusal to answer cross-examination or other questions. There are no exceptions to this exclusion as there are in legal proceedings.
- vii. *Hearing Decorum*. Decision-makers may enforce rules to ensure hearing decorum, such as requiring respectful treatment, specifying any objection process, governing timing of hearing and length of breaks, etc.
- viii. Lake Region State College must create an audio or audiovisual recording, or transcript, of any live hearing and make it available to the parties for inspection and review.

h. Determination Regarding Responsibility.

- i. Standard of Evidence. All decisions in grievance processes under Title IX shall require a determination of responsibility based on the preponderance of the evidence.
- ii. After the conclusion of the live hearing, the decision-maker must issue a written determination regarding responsibility, which must include:
 - a. Identification of the allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment;
 - Description of the procedural steps taken from the receipt of the formal complaint through the determination, including any notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and witnesses, site visits, methods used to gather evidence, and hearings held;
 - c. Findings of fact supporting the determination;
 - d. Conclusions regarding the application of the Lake Region State College's code of conduct to the facts:
 - e. A statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including a determination regarding responsibility, any disciplinary sanctions to be

- imposed on the respondent, and whether remedies will be provided to the complainant; and
- f. The procedures, timelines, and permissible bases for the complainant and respondent to appeal.
- iii. The written determination must be provided to the parties simultaneously. The determination regarding responsibility becomes final either on the date that notice of the result of any appeal is provided to the parties, if an appeal is filed, or if an appeal is not filed, the date on which an appeal would no longer be considered timely.
- iv. The Title IX Coordinator shall be responsible to implement any remedies provided by the written determination.
- 13) **Disciplinary Sanctions**. Disciplinary sanctions imposed after the conclusion of the grievance process shall be assessed pursuant to the Lake Region State College's code of conduct, student handbook, employee handbook, or similar document which sets possible disciplinary sanctions for violations of Title IX or code of conduct, and shall be proportional to the determination of responsibility. These may include, but are not limited to:
 - a. Written warning
 - b. Limited access to campus
 - c. Suspension or expulsion
 - d. Counseling or training
 - e. Restitution
 - f. Performance improvement
 - g. Loss of privileges or wages
 - h. Class or job reassignment
 - i. Termination
- 14) **Remedies**. Remedies offered after the conclusion of the grievance process on a finding of responsibility must be designed to restore or preserve equal access to the education program or activity. Remedies need not be non-disciplinary or non-punitive and need not avoid burdening the respondent.

15) Appeals.

- a. Both parties must be offered the opportunity to appeal from a determination regarding responsibility or from the dismissal of a formal complaint (or any allegations within the formal complaint). The following may form the basis for an appeal:
 - i. Procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the grievance process.
 - New evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding responsibility or dismissal was made that could have affected the outcome of the matter; or
 - iii. The Title IX Coordinator, investigator(s), or decision-maker(s) had a conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or for or against the individual complainant or respondent, that affected the outcome of the grievance process.
 - iv. Other basis set forth in the campus-level processes, but which must be offered equally to both parties (for example, an appeal based on the severity of the sanctions).
- b. Upon filing of an appeal, Lake Region State College must:
 - i. Notify the non-appealing party in writing when an appeal is filed and implement appeal procedures equally for both parties.

- ii. Ensure that the appeal's decision-maker is not the same person as the decision-maker that reached the determination regarding responsibility or dismissal, the investigator, or the Title IX Coordinator.
- iii. Give both parties a reasonable, equal opportunity to submit a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome.
- iv. Issue a written decision describing the result of the appeal and the rationale for the result; and
- v. Provide the written decision simultaneously to both parties.
- c. In the event that a disciplinary sanction of suspension or expulsion is imposed by the decision-maker, Lake Region State College shall provide a method of reviewing an appeal from a determination regarding responsibility or dismissal for a period of at least one year following the original decision. Lake Region State College may set a shorter deadline for appeals from lesser discipline or for appeals filed by the complainant.
- 16) Informal Resolution. Lake Region State College may not require as a condition of enrollment or continuing enrollment, or employment or continuing employment, or enjoyment of any other right, a waiver of the right to an investigation and adjudication of formal complaints, and may not require the parties to participate in an informal resolution process. Similarly, Lake Region State College may not offer an informal resolution process unless a formal complaint is filed. Notwithstanding, at any time before the written determination is issued, Lake Region State College may facilitate an informal resolution process that does not involve a full investigation and adjudication, so long as Lake Region State College:
 - a. Provides the parties a written notice disclosing the allegations, the requirements of the informal resolution process including the circumstances under which it precludes the parties from resuming a formal complaint arising from the same allegations, provided, however, that at any time prior to agreeing to a resolution, any party has the right to withdraw from the informal resolution process and resume the grievance process with respect to the formal complaint, and any consequences resulting from participating in the informal resolution process, including the records that will be maintained or could be shared;
 - b. Obtains the parties' voluntary, written consent to the informal resolution process; and
 - c. Does not offer or facilitate an informal resolution process to resolve allegations that an employee sexually harassed a student.
- 17) Amnesty for Complainants and Witnesses. Lake Region State College community encourages the reporting of misconduct and crimes by complainants and witnesses. It is in the best interests of Lake Region State College community that complainants choose to report misconduct to Lake Region State College officials, that witnesses come forward to share what they know, and that all parties be forthcoming during the process.

To encourage reporting and participation in the process, Lake Region State College will grant amnesty from minor policy violations – such as underage consumption of alcohol or the use of illicit drugs – related to the incident to complainants and witnesses.

Amnesty does not apply to more serious allegations such as physical abuse of another or illicit drug distribution. The decision not to offer amnesty to a respondent is not based on gender, but on the fact that collateral misconduct is typically addressed for all students within a progressive discipline system,

and the rationale for amnesty, the incentive to report serious misconduct, is rarely applicable to the respondent.

18) **Jurisdiction**. This policy applies to all education programs and activities of the Lake Region State College, to conduct that takes place on the campus or on property owned or controlled by Lake Region State College, at Lake Region State College-sponsored events, or in buildings owned or controlled by Lake Region State College's recognized student organizations. The respondent must be a member of Lake Region State College's community in order for its policies to apply.

Jurisdiction for off-campus misconduct that deprives someone of access to a Lake Region State College educational program or activity will also be investigated. Lake Region State College may also extend jurisdiction to off-campus and/or to online conduct when the Title IX Coordinator determines that the conduct affects a substantial Lake Region State College interest.

Regardless of where the conduct occurred, Lake Region State College will address Title IX related notice/complaints to determine whether the conduct occurred in the context of its employment or educational program or activity and/or has continuing effects on campus or in an off-campus sponsored program or activity. A substantial Lake Region State College interest includes:

- a. Any action that constitutes a criminal offense as defined by law. This includes, but is not limited to, single or repeat violations of any local, state, or federal law.
- b. Any situation in which it is determined that the respondent poses an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of anyone.
- c. Any situation that significantly impinges upon the rights, property, or achievements of oneself or others or significantly breaches the peace and/or causes social disorder; and/or
- d. Any situation that is detrimental to the educational interests or mission of Lake Region State College.

If the respondent is unknown or is not a member of Lake Region State College community, the Title IX Coordinator will assist the complainant in identifying appropriate campus and local resources and support options and/or, when criminal conduct is alleged, in contacting local or campus law enforcement if the individual would like to file a police report.

When the respondent is not a member of the Lake Region State College's community, supportive measures, remedies, and resources may be accessible to the complainant by contacting the Title IX Coordinator.

Lake Region State College may take other actions as appropriate to help protect the complainant against third parties, such as barring individuals from Lake Region State College property and/or events.

When the respondent is enrolled in or employed by another NDUS institution, the Title IX Coordinator will assist the complainant with the reporting process at that institution.

- 19) **Bystander Intervention**. To create cultural change on campus, it's important that the entire campus community is actively addressing issues contributing to sexual violence. Here are some safe and positive options for bystanders:
 - a. Talk to your friends honestly and openly about sexual assault.
 - b. Don't be a bystander if you see something, intervene in any way you can.
 - c. Trust your gut. If something looks like it might be a bad situation it probably is.

- d. Be direct. Ask someone who looks like they may need help if they're okay.
- e. Get someone to help you if you see something enlist a friend, RA, bartender, or host to help step in.
- f. Keep an eye on someone who has had too much to drink.
- g. If you see someone who is too intoxicated to consent, enlist their friends to help them leave safely.
- h. Recognize the potential danger of someone who talks about planning to target another person at a party.
- i. Be aware if someone is deliberately trying to intoxicate, isolate, or corner someone else.
- j. Creating a distraction, drawing attention to the situation, or separating them.
- k. Understand that if someone does not or cannot consent to sex, it's rape.
- I. Never blame the victim.
- m. If you are a victim or survivor, or helping someone in that situation go to www.notalone.gov to get the resources and information you need. You can also call the National Sexual Assault Hotline at 1-800-656 HOPE.
- 20) Training. LRSC will engage in and require prevention and awareness training for students and employees who live, learn and/or work on the LRSC campus. Annual training for LRSC's conduct and misconduct policies will be provided. Student training will focus on how to file a misconduct complaint, discussion on consent and incapacitation, resources available, complaint procedures, and bystander intervention. Employee training will focus on how to appropriately respond to misconduct complaints, the procedures to file a complaint and the importance of confidentiality. More comprehensive training will be provided to Title IX coordinators, investigators and others involved in the adjudication process.
 - a. All persons involved in the grievance process, including, but not necessarily limited to, Title IX Coordinators, investigators, decision-makers, and any person who facilitates an informal resolution process, must receive training on the following areas:
 - i. The definition of sexual harassment;
 - ii. The scope of the education program or activity;
 - iii. How to conduct an investigation and grievance process, including hearings, appeals, and informal resolution processes, as applicable;
 - iv. How to serve impartially, including by avoiding prejudgment of the facts at issue, conflicts of interest, and bias.
 - b. Additionally, decision-makers must receive training on the following areas:
 - i. Any technology to be used at a live hearing.
 - ii. Issues of relevance or questions and evidence, including when questions about the complainant's sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior are not relevant.
 - c. Investigators must also be trained on issues of relevance to create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence.
 - d. All materials used to train the foregoing individuals must not rely on sex stereotypes and must promote impartial investigations and adjudications of formal complaints.
 - e. All training materials used to train the foregoing individuals must be made available to the public by posting on the Lake Region State College's website.

21) Recordkeeping.

- a. Lake Region State College shall retain, for a period of seven years, records of:
 - Each sexual harassment investigation, including any determination regarding responsibility; any audio or audiovisual recording or transcript; any disciplinary sanctions imposed on the respondent, and any remedies provided to the complainant.
 - ii. Any appeal and the result therefrom.
 - iii. Any informal resolution and the result therefrom.
 - iv. All materials used to train Title IX coordinators, investigators, decision-makers, and any person who facilitates an informal resolution process, which Lake Region State College must make available on its website.
 - b. Lake Region State College must create and maintain for seven years, records of any actions, including records of supportive measures, taken in response to a report or formal complaint of sexual harassment. In each instance, Lake Region State College must document the basis for its response was not deliberately indifferent, and document that it took supportive measures, or, if supportive measures were not provided, an explanation of why such a response was not clearly unreasonable in light of the known circumstances.

22) Retaliation.

- a. No institution or other person may intimidate, threaten, coerce, or discriminate against any individual for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by title IX or this part, or because the individual has made a report or complaint, testified, assisted, or participated or refused to participate in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under this part.
- b. Intimidation, threats, coercion, or discrimination, including charges against an individual for code of conduct violations that do not involve sex discrimination or sexual harassment, but arise out of the same facts or circumstances as a report or complaint of sex discrimination, or a report or formal complaint of sexual harassment, for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege secured by title IX or this part, constitutes retaliation.
- c. The exercise of rights protected under the First Amendment does not constitute retaliation.
- d. Charging an individual with a code of conduct violation for making a materially false statement in bad faith in the course of a grievance proceeding does not constitute retaliation, although a determination regarding responsibility, alone, is not sufficient to conclude that any party made a materially false statement in bad faith.
- e. Complaints alleging retaliation may be filed pursuant to the grievance procedures for sex discrimination under Title IX.
- 23) **Resources for Support.** Confidential access to resources, reporting options, services, advocacy and medical treatment is available through on campus counseling, off-campus advocates and counselors, and medical providers. A list of these resources is available on the college website or from the Title IX Coordinator.
 - Protection Orders and Restraining Orders are court orders and, thus, Lake Region State College is not able to issue them. LRSC will assist both the respondent and the complainant (or any member of the LRSC community impacted by an order of protection), by helping the parties understand the availability of an order, the potential content and parameters of an order, and

the consequences for violating an order. LRSC will also assist a protected party in determining the arrest of an individual violating an order of protection.

- 24) **Confidentiality**. Notwithstanding Chapter 44-04 of the North Dakota Century code, the identity of any individual who has made a report or complaint of sex discrimination or sexual harassment, any complainant, any respondent, and any witness, including the conduct of any investigation, hearing or judicial proceeding arising thereunder, shall be confidential.
- 25) **Federal Timely Warning Obligations**. The Clery Act requires Lake Region State College to issue a timely warning for any violation that poses a serious or continuing threat to the campus community. This includes Title IX violations such as rape, sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and/or stalking.
 - Lake Region State College will ensure that a complainant's name and other identifying information is not disclosed, while still providing enough information for community members to make safety decisions in light of the potential danger.
- 26) **Policy Conflicts**. Any conflicts between this Policy and any existing SBHE Policy, NDUS Procedure, Lake Region State College policy or procedure, or student or employee handbook shall be resolved in favor of this policy.

Missing Student Notification

As required by the Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2008, this policy addresses missing student notification for students residing in on-campus student housing and includes procedures that LRSC will follow in the event a student is reported missing.

A missing student is defined as a person currently enrolled at LRSC, residing in on-campus student housing, whose whereabouts have been unaccounted for by LRSC or local law enforcement for more than 24 hours. If a student is determined to be missing, LRSC will initiate notification procedures within 24 hours.

Designation of Confidential Contact Information

- Students residing in on-campus student housing have the option to designate a confidential contact
 person who will be notified in the event the student is determined by LRSC or local law enforcement to
 be missing.
- 2. A student may designate a confidential contact person at any time by filing a Confidential Contact Form with the Director of Housing or Assistant Director of Housing. The student is responsible for the accuracy of the contact information and for updating the information as necessary.
- 3. A student's confidential contact information will be accessible only by authorized campus officials and law enforcement in the course of the investigation.
- 4. The confidential contact may be someone other than the emergency contact listed in Campus Connection. Emergency contact information listed in Campus Connection will be kept separately from the missing student contact information.
- 5. If the missing student is under the age of 18 and is not an emancipated individual, LRSC is required to notify the student's parent or guardian, in addition to any confidential contact designated, immediately after determining that the student has been missing for 24 hours.
- 6. When a student is missing and the student failed to designate a confidential contact, LRSC may contact any person who they believe may have information about the student's whereabouts.

Notification of Missing Persons

- 1. Any individual who has information that a student who resides in on-campus housing is missing shall immediately notify the Director of Housing or the Resident Assistant on duty.
- 2. The housing official will confirm that the student is currently enrolled and living in on-campus student housing.
- 3. If confirmed, the housing official shall immediately notify the Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs.
- 4. The Director of Housing will conduct an investigation to verify the situation and determine the circumstances that exist.
- 5. If it is determined that the student is missing, the Assistant Vice President of Student Affairs shall, report the missing student to:
 - a. The Police
 - b. The student's designated confidential contact,
 - c. The student's parent or guardian,
 - d. Other campus officials as deemed necessary.

Campus Communication Regarding Missing Persons

- 1. Prior to providing the LRSC community with any information about a missing student, the Director of College Relations shall consult with law enforcement to ensure that communications do not hinder the investigation.
- 2. All communication with the general public regarding missing students will be handled by law enforcement authorities, who shall consult with the Director of College Relations.

Fire Safety in Student Housing

Per federal law, Lake Region State College is required to annually disclose statistical data on all fires that occur in on-campus student housing facilities. Listed below are the non-emergency numbers to call to report fires that have already been extinguished in on-campus student housing. These are fires for which one is unsure whether Lake Region State College may already be aware. If one finds evidence of such a fire or hears about such a fire, they can contact one of the following:

- Physical Plant Director (701-662-1521)
- Director of Housing (701-662-1525)
- Risk Management Coordinator (701-662-1543)

Candles and Incense

For fire and safety reasons, candles, lanterns, and incense are not permitted in the residence hall rooms for any reason.

Electrical Appliances

Popcorn poppers, George Foreman grills, pizza ovens, hot plates, toasters, toaster ovens, and other heating and cooking devices may not be used in student rooms. Such devices may be used in the kitchen area available in each hall. Microwaves and refrigerators (4.3 Cubic Feet or smaller) are permitted. All electrical appliances must be UL approved. The UL seal must appear on both the appliance and the cord. Coffee pots are not allowed, however, you may have a Keurig or Keurig-type device in your room.

Fire Emergency Procedures

When the fire alarm sounds, students, faculty, and staff must exit the room, shut the door, and leave the building at the nearest safest exit. Once students have left the building, they meet at the following locations:

- North Residents: North Hall parking lot. Once everyone has gathered, the staff may choose to relocate to a more suitable location.
- Gilliland and South Residents: Gilliland/South Hall parking lot. Once everyone has gathered, the staff may choose to relocate you to a more suitable location.

Once the Devils Lake Fire Department has determined it is safe, residents will be allowed back into the building.

Smoke Free/Tobacco Free Campus

For purpose of this policy, smoking is defined as inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted or heated cigar, cigarette, pipe, or any other lighted or heated tobacco or plant product intended for inhalation, in any manner or in any form. Smoking also includes the use of an e-cigarette which creates a vapor, in any manner or any form, or the use of any oral tobacco product for the purpose of circumventing the prohibition of smoking in this policy.

Smoking is prohibited on all property owned or leased by Lake Region State College, including buildings, residence halls, apartments, and enclosed structures. Smoking is prohibited in state-owned or leased vehicles and motorized equipment.

Supervisors are responsible for ensuring that employees, students, visitors, and where applicable, contractors are made aware of this policy and that they comply with its requirements.

Violations of this policy by faculty and staff constitutes a violation of the LRSC policy 1500.05 (Code of Conduct). Violations by students constitutes minor misconduct under the LRSC policy 800.30 (Student Conduct).

The Smoke Free Policy may not apply to specific activities used in connection with the practice of cultural activities by American Indians that are in accordance with the American Indian Religious Freedom Act, 42 U.S.C. 1996 and 1996a. All ceremonial use exceptions must be approved in advance by the president of Lake Region State College or designee.

Information regarding tobacco prevention is available through the following websites:

http://www.ndhealth.gov/tobacco

http://ndquits.com

http://breathend.com

Chart 1: Crime Statistics

Crime	Calendar Year	Total On-Campus	On-Campus Residence ¹	Non- Campus	Public	Unfounded
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Murder/Non-negligent manslaughter	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Manslaughter by	2022	0	0	0	0	0
negligence	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Rape	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Fondling	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Incest	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Statutory Rape	2022	0	0	0	0	0
, ,	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Robbery	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	2*	0	0
Aggravated assault	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Burglary	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Motor vehicle theft	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
Arson	2023	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
VAWA Offenses	2023	0	0	0	0	0
(domestic violence, dating	2022	0	0	0	0	0
violence, stalking)	2021	0	0	0	0	0

¹On-Campus Residence statistics are included in the Total On-Campus numbers.

Note: There were no hate crimes reported in 2021, 2022 or 2023. There were no crimes reported in 2021, 2022 or 2023 at LRSC's locations in West Fargo (POTP), Grand Forks (GFAFB, Launch!, Nursing, POTP), or Mayville (Nursing).

^{*} LRSC has a classroom location at the North Dakota State Hospital in Jamestown, ND; a facility providing acute inpatient psychiatric and substance abuse treatment and intermediate psycho-social rehabilitation services. The reports of aggravated assault occurred within this facility, but not within the LRSC nursing classroom environment.

Chart 2: Arrests

Offense	Calendar Year	Total On-Campus	On-Campus Residence ¹	Non- Campus	Public	Launch!
Liquorlau	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Liquor Law Violations	2022	4	4	0	0	0
VIOIALIONS	2021	0	0	0	0	0
Davis	2023	1	0	0	0	0
Drug Violations	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2020	0	0	0	0	0
Weapons Violations	2023	0	0	0	0	0
	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0

¹On-Campus Residence statistics are included in the Total On-Campus numbers.

Chart 3: Non-Arrest Campus Referrals

Offense	Calendar Year	Total On-Campus	On-Campus Residence ¹	Non- Campus	Public	Launch!
	2023	18	18	1*	0	0
Alcohol	2022	18	18	0	0	0
	2021	6	6	0	0	4
Davis	2023	0	0	1*	0	0
Drug Violations	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0
14/0000000	2023	0	0	0	0	0
Weapons Violations	2022	0	0	0	0	0
	2021	0	0	0	0	0

¹On-Campus Residence statistics are included in the Total On-Campus numbers.

Note: There were no arrests or non-arrest campus referrals reported in 2021, 2022 or 2023 at LRSC's locations in West Fargo (POTP), Grand Forks (GFAFB, Nursing, POTP), or Mayville (Nursing).

Chart 4: Fire Statistics

Residence Hall	Calendar Year	Fires	Injury	Death	Financial Loss
	2023	0	0	0	\$0
Gilliland Hall	2022	0	0	0	\$0
	2021	0	0	0	\$0
North Hall	2023	0	0	0	\$0
	2022	0	0	0	\$0
	2021	0	0	0	\$0
South Hall	2023	0	0	0	\$0
	2022	0	0	0	\$0
	2021	0	0	0	\$0

Note: All residence halls are located at 1801 College Dr. N, Devils Lake, ND 58301

^{*} LRSC has a classroom location at the North Dakota State Hospital in Jamestown, ND; a facility providing acute inpatient psychiatric and substance abuse treatment and intermediate psycho-social rehabilitation services. The reports of alcohol and drug violations occurred within this facility, but not within the LRSC nursing classroom environment.

Chart 5: Fire Safety Systems in Student Housing

Residence Hall	Gilliland Hall	North Hall	South Hall
Building Fire Alarm	X	X	X
Pull Stations	X	X	X
Smoke Detection	X	X	Х
Fire Extinguisher Devices	Х	X	Х
Evacuation Plans	X	X	Х
Fire-Rated Doors	Х	X	Х
Monitored Fire Alarm System	X	X	Х
Number of Yearly Evacuation Drills	4	4	4